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Standing Committee on Procedure and House Affairs

Thursday, November 26, 2020

● (1100)

[English]
The Chair (Ms. Ruby Sahota (Brampton North, Lib.)): I'll

call this meeting to order. Welcome to meeting 13 of the House of
Commons Standing Committee on Procedure and House Affairs.

You all know by now that we're meeting pursuant to the order
that was adopted by the House on Wednesday, September 23, al‐
lowing committees to sit in hybrid format.

For the benefit of the witnesses today, I'll point out as well a few
reminders that those who are participating virtually, members and
witnesses, may speak in the official language of their choice. Inter‐
pretation services are available for this meeting. You have the
choice at the bottom of your screen of "floor”, “English” or
“French”. The floor language is for those who wish to listen to the
language spoken with no interpretation.

Before speaking, click on the microphone icon to activate your
mike. When you are done speaking, please put your mike on mute
to minimize any interference. This isn't necessarily automatically
done for you. Please remember to do it yourself.

I would remind you that all comments by members and witnesses
should be addressed through the chair. Should members need to re‐
quest the floor outside their designated time for questions, they
should activate their mike and state that they have a point of order,
or if they aren't present physically, then speak into the mike and try
to get my attention by stating that they have a point of order. After
that point of order is raised, those who wish to speak to the point of
order, please either use the "raise hand" function or try to get the
attention of the clerk, if you're physically in the room. Both the
clerk and I will keep a consolidated speaking order.

I also want to remind everyone, to set their Zoom meeting view
to gallery view. It's the most realistic option to what it looks like to
be at the big committee table physically. You can see all your col‐
leagues at the same time.

Before speaking, please wait until I recognize you by name. Also
remember to speak slowly and clearly for the benefit of the inter‐
preters especially. It's quite challenging. Please do not speak over
one another. It's almost impossible for the interpreters to interpret if
we speak over one another. Be mindful of that as well.

It looks like everyone here on today's call has a headset. We've
been providing headsets to the witnesses as well. These headsets
have been determined by the House administration to be the most
effective ones. Please, it's mandatory to wear the headset with the
boom microphone.

Now we'll start today's meeting.

We have been able to get our witnesses into two separate panels.
Originally we had it set up with three panels, but we had to do
some reshuffling because of the availability of some witnesses.

For the first panel, I would like to welcome Professor Blais, who
has been here before. He's coming to us from the University of
Montreal, the political science department.

From Immigrant and Refugee Community Organization of Mani‐
toba, we have Ms. Blumczynska.

Thank you, Ms. Blumczynska, for being with us today.

From the Canadian Federation of Students, we have Nicole
Brayiannis. She is the deputy chairperson for the national organiza‐
tion.

Thank you for being with us today.
● (1105)

Welcome to all of you. Each of you has five minutes for your in‐
troductory remarks.

We'll start with you, Professor Blais.

[Translation]
Prof. André Blais (Professor, Department of Political Science,

Université de Montréal, As an Individual): Thank you very
much.

I thank the committee for inviting me to make a few comments
on Elections Canada's recommendations in the event of an election
during the pandemic.

I have three very brief comments. The first one is that I do not
think there should be an election this year. We have fixed election
dates. The next election should be in October 2023, not before.

[English]
Mr. Mark Gerretsen (Kingston and the Islands, Lib.): Point

of order, Madam Chair. I'm sorry to interrupt.
The Chair: Is it an issue with the sound?
Mr. Mark Gerretsen: Yes. We're getting the interpretation at the

same volume as the floor sound. The two are the same.
The Clerk of the Committee (Mr. Justin Vaive): Madam

Chair, we'll look into what the issue is here if you would suspend
very briefly.
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The Chair: All right. We'll suspend for just a minute, hopefully.
Usually they're very quick at resolving this.
● (1105)

_____________________(Pause)_____________________

● (1105)

The Chair: Let's continue.

Monsieur Blais, thank you so much. I'm sorry for the interrup‐
tion.
[Translation]

Prof. André Blais: Should I start from the beginning or not?
[English]

The Chair: Yes, please.
[Translation]

Prof. André Blais: Okay.

I thank the committee for inviting me to comment on what we
should do if there is an election during the pandemic.

I have three very brief comments. The first one is that I do not
think there should be an election this year. We have fixed election
dates. The next election should be in October 2023, not before. It is
possible to have a minority government for four years. Just because
minority governments traditionally last only one or two years
doesn't mean that must always be the case. All political parties
must learn to compromise.

Having said that, I agree that the possibility of an election in a
pandemic must be anticipated. So I have two comments on that. My
first observation is this: I fully agree with Elections Canada's pro‐
posals. We must avoid line‑ups and make voting easier. It is easier
to vote on Saturday or Sunday than it is to vote on Monday alone. I
would add that there should be more polling stations to make vot‐
ing easier. In short, we must do everything we can to avoid waiting
in line. Actually, why not have an express line for those who are
more vulnerable?

There could even be one for those who reserve their spot and
want to vote at 10:38 a.m., for example.

I think these measures should be maintained for future elections.
Every effort should be made to make voting as easy and quick as
possible.

My final point is that I applaud the proposal to make voting in
long‑term care facilities more flexible. I think it is a great initiative.

Those are all my comments.

I would be happy to answer any questions you may have.
● (1110)

[English]
The Chair: Thank you so much, Professor.

Next we have Ms. Blumczynska.
Ms. Dorota Blumczynska (Executive Director, Immigrant

and Refugee Community Organization of Manitoba): Good
morning. Thank you for this honour.

I'm speaking to you today from Treaty 1 territory, which is the
land of the Anishinabe, Cree, Oji-Cree, Dakota and Dene peoples
and the homeland of the Métis nation. I want to begin by acknowl‐
edging that I'm a settler who's been allowed to enter this country by
the colonial Government of Canada. I also want to say that I under‐
stand that I, and those who have arrived before me and after me,
have been welcomed here and owe our freedom to the indigenous
peoples—land and water defenders. I understand that by entering
into nation-to-nation treaties, the indigenous peoples made it possi‐
ble, amongst other things, for settlers to build new lives in peace
and safety.

In the last week, I reached out to ethnocultural communities
throughout Winnipeg to invite their voices into this chamber. I rec‐
ognize that I am but one experience. Many who face barriers to
democratic participation must be heard. My special thanks to the
African Communities of Manitoba, the Manitoba Association of
Newcomer Serving Organizations, and many trusted advisers who I
call friends from our Syrian, Nigerian, Congolese, East Indian and
Chinese communities.

To begin, I want to state the obvious: No one wants to expose
themselves, their families or communities to possible infection and
illness. The highest assurances must be made to protect the health
and well-being of every person in Canada. Many factors can influ‐
ence one's participation in an electoral process, especially voters
originating from countries where the electoral process has often
been neither fair nor free.

Our community shared that some elections abroad, in their lived
experiences, were marked by violence, financial inducement, disen‐
franchisement, electoral fraud and a lack of voter education. This
made people believe their votes did not count. It ultimately led to
voter apathy and low turnout. The governments that emerged from
these skewed democratic processes often lacked legitimacy and
representativeness, and were not responsive to the needs of the peo‐
ple. This further alienated citizens from the governance and demo‐
cratic process. A lack of inclusive governance leads to low partici‐
pation in elections.

The first challenge is to overcome apathy and the belief that indi‐
vidual votes do not count. Regrettably, as many refugees and recent
immigrants wait for years to become citizens, as permanent resi‐
dents they're not eligible to vote. This inevitably affects their partic‐
ipation when they finally do become citizens and can exercise this
right. There's a growing movement across Canada in municipal and
provincial elections to extend voting rights to permanent residents.
After all, they pay taxes, use government services and contribute to
our communities. The federal government could lead the nation in
extending this most critical right to all permanent residents.
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Second, we've seen from recent elections in the United States
that mail-in ballots and electronic voting may offer new and safer
mechanisms for participation. However, I want to strongly caution
you that these options can further disenfranchise those who lack lit‐
eracy and digital literacy skills. The lack of digital literacy skills es‐
pecially is a major barrier for many people from an immigrant
background. Voting processes in many countries continue to be
manual with limited online involvement, both because of low digi‐
tal literacy and because of a lack of digital infrastructure. At IR‐
COM, as an example, more than 50% of the adult tenants do not
possess the digital literacy skills to navigate the Internet confident‐
ly. Nearly 34% of families do not have access to reliable IT de‐
vices. Thus, building digital capacity of voters in advance of elec‐
tions is required for everyone to adapt to the new reality of voting
in a COVID-19 era.

Remote voting cannot completely replace in-person options. For
elections to feel politically safe, they must be accessible in a variety
of ways and be transparent and available in every community. In
fact, in-community options need to increase to accommodate physi‐
cal distancing and the necessary sanitization. Expanded locations
and longer early voting hours will reduce crowding and physical
contact.
● (1115)

At voting locations in communities with larger immigrant popu‐
lations, staff need to be familiar with rules regarding language in‐
terpreters. They must be patient and culturally sensitive. For those
locations, multilingual signs to direct people—polling station, wait
here, show your ID—are important.

Security at voting stations must also be assured because, in the
lived experiences of some new Canadians, expressing a political
opinion publicly, even if voting is confidential, is an act that can be
dangerous.

For mail-in ballots with prepaid postage, there must be a longer
early voting period with an assurance that every vote postmarked
by a predetermined date and time will be counted up to and includ‐
ing election day.

Before voting can even begin, however, there must be extensive
public education about the structure of Canadian government and
our parliamentary democracy. Educational resources should be
multilingual and in plain language. Voters have the language skills
needed to vote, but it can be specialized language of government
structure that poses a potential barrier. The vital subject matter will
be better understood in one's own mother tongue.

Furthermore, upon arrival in Canada, civic and voter education
must be integrated into all orientation programs offered by new‐
comer-serving organizations. These should explore active citizen‐
ship, individual responsibility and the importance of participating
in governance decision processes even before newcomers become
eligible to vote.

Last, we must partner with ethnocultural community groups to
promote inclusive governance and open government. These groups
are invaluable communication channels for disseminating informa‐
tion and mobilizing participation. Include people early in the pro‐
cess through participatory budgeting and discourse about legisla‐

tion. Increase representation at government committees at all levels
of government. The more people participate in the governance deci‐
sion-making process, the more they are likely to take part in the
electoral process.

The Chair: Thank you. Does that wrap up your remarks?

Ms. Dorota Blumczynska: May I make three very quick points,
please?

The Chair: Yes, if you can do so in 30 seconds.

Ms. Dorota Blumczynska: Thank you.

I just want to point out that this is a matter of justice. It will cost
the country to ensure that every measure is in place so that there is
the right to free and democratic elections, but it cannot be compro‐
mised. This pandemic has created conditions that are ripe for the
loss of our basic rights. I believe it is incumbent upon this House to
restore them and at every cost to protect them. There should be no
person in this land who has cast a vote whose vote is not counted.

Thank you for this opportunity.

Meegwetch. Merci. Dziękuję bardzo.

The Chair: Thank you so much.

Ms. Brayiannis.

Ms. Nicole Brayiannis (National Deputy Chairperson, Cana‐
dian Federation of Students): Thank you, Chairperson, and thank
you to this committee for inviting the Canadian Federation of Stu‐
dents to speak on this issue.

I want to start out by acknowledging the privilege that comes
with addressing you today as I ask you to join in paying respects to
the original caretakers of the land where I reside in so-called Pick‐
ering, Ontario, who are the Haudenosaunee, the Anishinabe, and
the Mississaugas of the Credit peoples. I also want to share my soli‐
darity with all indigenous land defenders, from east coast to west
coast, who continue to fight these protective battles.

To share a bit of context, the Canadian Federation of Students is
the oldest and largest student organization in Canada. We represent
more than 530,000 students across the country. Our membership in‐
cludes both domestic and international students at the college, un‐
dergraduate and graduate levels, including full-time and part-time
students.
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I want to emphasize how proud I am of the student voter turnout
in the last two federal elections. The federation was a major part of
making this happen, as we fought for the first on-campus polling
stations back in 2015. We saw the benefits of on-campus polling
through a 10% increase in youth voter turnout since 2011, and a
60% increase in votes cast at on-campus polling stations during the
most recent election.

In consideration of young people as the largest voting population
in Canada, we cannot afford for this pandemic to break down the
hard-earned progress we've gained in youth voter engagement.

In this past year, students have suffered from being left behind
without adequate pandemic supports. As classes shifted online and
work became even more precarious, students experienced new and
enhanced barriers and challenges to accessing post-secondary edu‐
cation. Therefore, in looking forward to elections, financial and ac‐
cessibility barriers need to be prioritized in consideration of person‐
al and community safety during in-person voting.

The first accessibility accommodation that needs to be addressed
is extending the advance voting period to allow for safe in-person
voting. This would give the potential for on-campus polling stations
to still take place, while promoting social distancing measures.

The second accessibility accommodation that needs to be ad‐
dressed is including the option for mail-in ballots. Recognizing that
students are a diverse population with a variety accessibility needs,
we need to be protecting those who cannot risk their health to ap‐
pear at polling stations.

In line with these necessary accommodations, all changes to the
typical voting process must be well communicated to voters. Here,
I do want to give compliments to Elections Canada for their use of
social media to engage voters during the last election.

Looking forward, this approach now needs to be taken even a
step further to create a simplified and streamlined registration
method for new and first-time voters. Due to financial and safety
pressures, many eligible voters have had to relocate during the pan‐
demic and may not be registered to vote at their new address, so
this work should begin well in advance of voting days, and all mes‐
saging related to election processes must be consistent and trans‐
parent.

Additionally, recognizing that there will likely not be an opportu‐
nity for door knocking or leader visits and that fewer debates will
be held, there needs to be a non-partisan virtual space that voters
can go to in order to access party platforms for different campaign
asks, such as COVID-19 recovery, housing, climate justice, health
care, universal basic income and upholding treaty rights for indige‐
nous peoples. Recognizing that many students do not have access
to cable and/or limited access to the Internet, this needs to be a us‐
er-friendly cohesive website that young people can utilize to easily
access this information and feel empowered to make a well-in‐
formed decision.

The final consideration I want to give focus to is protection of
election staff. Polling station staff and volunteers are front-line
workers and are critical to our democratic process. Therefore, it is
integral that the health and safety of everyone in these roles is a top
priority through ensuring necessary personal protective equipment

for all election personnel and voters, and that workers are fairly
compensated.

Overall, this pandemic has already taken too much, and we ap‐
preciate being invited here today to engage in these important con‐
versations. We've already seen how addressing barriers to youth
participation in elections directly translates to representation of
youth issues through our votes. It is critical that we keep this mo‐
mentum going, because in a just social and economic recovery
from COVID-19, youth representation and issue prioritization will
be critical in rebuilding Canada.

The Canadian Federation of Students appreciates being a part of
this consultation to address these needs, and I look forward to your
questions.

● (1120)

The Chair: Thank you.

Thanks to all of you for your opening statements. We've learned
a lot just through those.

We'll start with our formal question rounds. The first round will
be for six minutes for each party.

We'll begin with Ms. Vecchio, please.

Mrs. Karen Vecchio (Elgin—Middlesex—London, CPC):
Thank you very much.

I appreciate all the remarks that have been made today.

Mr. Blais, you applauded some of the things that had been done
for long-term care homes when it comes to making sure they had
the opportunity to vote.

Could you highlight some of the ones that you had noticed were
very effective?

Prof. André Blais: I mentioned that I applaud the proposal by
Elections Canada to make it much easier to accommodate different
days of voting points at different places. I was expressing my sup‐
port for one of the proposals made by Elections Canada.

Mrs. Karen Vecchio: Specifically with the long-term care
homes, were there some highlights? We have not fully moved for‐
ward and we are looking through these plans. Were there some
highlights? One of the concerns was about those in long-term care
homes having the ability to vote. What are some of the things you
saw that were extremely effective?

Mr. Todd Doherty (Cariboo—Prince George, CPC): On a
point of order, Madam Chair, I am being told by our staff that there
is feedback on the phone line and weird background noises.

● (1125)

The Clerk: Madam Chair, we'll look into it, determine what the
issue is with the phone lines, and try to resolve it.

The Chair: Mrs. Vecchio, please continue.
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Mrs. Karen Vecchio: Mr. Blais, could you continue with your
comments?

Prof. André Blais: I mentioned that in preparing my presenta‐
tion, I looked at the proposals made by Elections Canada, and I am
just reacting to those suggestions.

Understanding the possibility of being very flexible in how the
voting would take place at these different places, my understanding
is this could mean that in some places the vote could take place a
week before, for instance. It would make it easier for the residents
in that place. This is my only comment to make it more flexible.

Mrs. Karen Vecchio: Excellent. Thank you very much.

Ms. Blumczynska, you were talking about permanent residents
versus the people who became citizens and how this can disenfran‐
chise people.

Do you have some data to support that, to show that new Canadi‐
ans are disenfranchised because they did not have the opportunity
to vote as permanent residents? Is there any information in your da‐
ta to support that?

Ms. Dorota Blumczynska: Well, in terms of municipal and
provincial movements toward—

Mrs. Karen Vecchio: Sorry. I want to look at federal data. I rec‐
ognize the municipal rules, but I'm looking at the data for what they
do federally. That's what I'm really interested in.

Ms. Dorota Blumczynska: Do you want the number of perma‐
nent residents who currently reside in Canada who do not have the
ability to vote?

Mrs. Karen Vecchio: No. You mentioned disenfranchised Cana‐
dians, because as permanent residents they were not engaged, and
therefore, the likelihood of them to continue to vote would be low‐
er. Would you have any data to indicate what the voting levels are
for new Canadians?

Ms. Dorota Blumczynska: I do not have data related to new
Canadians who are already citizens and are voting. I was referring
to new Canadians who have permanent resident status and legally
do not have the right to vote.

Mrs. Karen Vecchio: Absolutely, and I recognize that. You
mentioned that the likelihood to vote, as Canadian citizens, was
lower. Can we say this may happen?

I'm looking for data to support that new Canadians who have
their citizenship are less likely to vote, because it does take a num‐
ber of years to become a citizen, and it's three years after that.
That's the data I'm looking for.

We know that in some ridings we have higher levels of immigra‐
tion and lower levels of immigration. I'm looking for those numbers
to verify that fact.

Ms. Dorota Blumczynska: I'm sure we could find those num‐
bers. This was information brought to me by several ethnocultural
communities. They specifically noted that the delay in obtaining
citizenship, and the many years as permanent residents, removed
them from the democratic process.

Mrs. Karen Vecchio: Absolutely, and I understand that variable
because one of the biggest things about becoming a Canadian citi‐
zen is that right to vote. I see so many people choose that so they

have the full rights of all Canadian citizens. You're saying they
should become permanent residents. I'm just looking for that data.
Could you please show me, not specifically permanent residents,
but information regarding new citizens of Canada and the likeli‐
hood of voting?

My time is very limited, so I will move on.

Nicole, you mentioned student voter turnout as being so much
greater. That is wonderful. I know my children are all making sure
that they vote and that their voices are heard. What did you find
when it came to students? Western University is in the area I am
from. Were they voting for the local candidate in that area, or were
they sending home mail-in ballots and voting for the candidate in
the residence where they usually reside? I'm looking for informa‐
tion on that, please.

Ms. Nicole Brayiannis: I had the opportunity last year to work
alongside the Elections Canada group at Ryerson. I was part of the
part-time students union, the Continuing Education Students' Asso‐
ciation of Ryerson.

Students were engaging with the advance polling stations be‐
cause as it was advance, they were able to vote for their home rid‐
ing but on campus. That really enhanced and empowered the ability
of students to participate in the elections process. We found as well
that students were really interested in the core issues that candidates
were talking about.

I said that piece about having some type of non-partisan central
platform that students could access to learn more about their candi‐
dates is really important, because often it falls back on student
unions or different union groups to take on that work.

It's really great to have the reliability measure coming from the
government and Elections Canada itself, as well, in presenting in‐
formation in a non-partisan manner. When it comes to how folks
were voting, yes, it does come back to the fact that on-campus
polling stations are advance polls, so regardless of their riding, they
are eligible and able to both register and cast their ballots at the
polls there.

● (1130)

Mrs. Karen Vecchio: That's amazing. Thank you so much.

The Chair: Thank you.

Mr. Alghabra, please.

Hon. Omar Alghabra (Mississauga Centre, Lib.): Thank you,
Madam Chair.

Good morning and thank you very much to our witnesses for be‐
ing here today and for their insight.

I want to ask all three of you a couple of questions.

Our role here at the committee is to finalize recommendations to
government and to Elections Canada on the chance of an election
during a pandemic. One of the things that all three of you refer to is
the increased possibility of voters using mail-in ballots.
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Are there any recommendations you may have for us to offer to
Elections Canada in preparation for that potential increase in mail-
in ballots? What should Elections Canada be aware of as we expect
more people to use mail-in ballots?

Mr. Blais.
Prof. André Blais: I don't have expertise in mail-in ballots, so I

don't have any clear recommendations for Elections Canada about
how exactly this should be done. Clearly, there would be a lot
more, and they would have to take special care in making sure there
was no fraud, for instance, and so on, but I don't have any specific
recommendations to make.

Hon. Omar Alghabra: Ms. Blumczynska, from the voter's per‐
spective that you're representing here today, what do you think
Elections Canada should be prepared for?

Ms. Dorota Blumczynska: I believe that Elections Canada
needs to prepare multilingual resources that explain how to use the
mail-in ballot in order for voters to know exactly what they need to
do and by when they need to mail the ballot itself. The instructions
need to be very clear and provided to ethnocultural communities in
their first language.

Hon. Omar Alghabra: Okay.

Ms. Brayiannis.
Ms. Nicole Brayiannis: I echo much of what Ms. Blumczynska

just said.

It needs to be readily and openly communicated with folks well
in advance of an election. I had given credit to Elections Canada for
their social media strategy that was utilized during the previous fed‐
eral election. This needs to be even more enhanced now, because
even when that resource and material were available virtually, there
was still a lot of confusion.

Questions were asked to both my student group on campus as
well as the Elections Canada student group on campus, because the
process is not always clear and concise. Particularly when it comes
to registration to vote and changing addresses in advance of having
those ballots mailed to folks, number one, that is critical. Number
two is clearly and openly explaining that process and ensuring that
folks are comfortable going into an election process and that it's not
trying to be further explained. Although those resources should be
available, it should be made clear in advance of those ballots going
out.

Hon. Omar Alghabra: Thanks, all of you.

The other thing that we're all witnessing an increased rise in is
misinformation. I suspect that it's getting worse, particularly during
the pandemic. Is there anything that you think Elections Canada
can do to raise awareness about misinformation and to combat the
spread of misinformation?

Again, I'll go back to you, Professor Blais.
Prof. André Blais: I'm really sorry. I don't have any clear solu‐

tion for this. I'm really concerned about this as well, very much
concerned. In fact, I'm involved in a study about social media mis‐
information about COVID.

I think it's a huge challenge, but having thought this through, I
don't know exactly what else Elections Canada should or could do.

● (1135)

Hon. Omar Alghabra: Thank you.

Ms. Blumczynska.
Ms. Dorota Blumczynska: I think it was mentioned by another

speaker previously, but I believe that a non-partisan platform that
summarizes the various positions of the different parties, which
could be under the care of Elections Canada or another body with
authority to oversee it and ensure it is correct, could then become a
single source of information. That way, community members across
the country could be directed to that one single source of truth.

Hon. Omar Alghabra: Yes. Honestly, I'm not worried just about
how platforms are portrayed but also about the election process,
such as how people can vote and where people should go to vote
and all that stuff. Is there anything that you think Elections Canada
can do other than to focus on spreading the correct information?

Ms. Dorota Blumczynska: I think a great deal can be done
through the ethnocultural community. I think there is a tremendous‐
ly strong web of communities across the country who are intercon‐
nected, who are very invested in everyone having participation in
the democratic process and who can be utilized in order to help di‐
rect community members to accurate sources of information. The
more information that gets out to communities, the earlier it gets
out and the more language accessible it is, including plain English
and plain French translation, it will increase people's participation
and their understanding.

Hon. Omar Alghabra: I don't know if there's time for Ms.
Brayiannis.

Ms. Brayiannis, do you have any thoughts on how Elections
Canada can combat the rise of misinformation?

The Chair: You have 30 seconds.
Ms. Nicole Brayiannis: I would just say that it's in disseminat‐

ing information to different groups. We can then further dissemi‐
nate that information to our members, and it's super helpful and su‐
per great in how we navigate conversations with folks. As well,
then, if there are questions that come to us, we have clear and con‐
cise answers that we can provide on those measures, as well as hav‐
ing a space we can direct folks to if we do not have those answers.

Just making sure that process is very clear, concise and easy to
follow I think is extremely helpful in ensuring folks are receiving
the correct information.

Hon. Omar Alghabra: Thanks, all of you.
The Chair: Thank you.

[Translation]

Mr. Therrien, go ahead.
Mr. Alain Therrien (La Prairie, BQ): Good morning to all

three of you.

I have a feeling I'll have one hour of questions for each of you.
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So let me start right away.

Mr. Blais, I find your idea of an express line with advance reser‐
vations to make voting faster really interesting.

Is this being done or has it already been done in other countries?
Prof. André Blais: No, it has not been done to my knowledge.

When I read the proposals from Elections Canada, I was trying to
find ways to make it as easy as possible. That is actually the objec‐
tive: it has to be easy and quick for as many people as possible.

You have to start thinking about all sorts of options and those are
the ones that came to mind. I think they are probably feasible and
should be considered.

We want everyone who wants to vote to be able to do so easily
and safely.

Mr. Alain Therrien: I think it's really very interesting.

Since it is your idea, you will have the rights for it. That's very
good.

I think it's really interesting. It remains to be seen how difficult it
might be to manage. Perhaps we should talk to the Chief Electoral
Officer (CEO).

Have you ever approached the CEO to see if it would be compli‐
cated to implement those measures?

Prof. André Blais: Honestly, I have just had these ideas for a
few days when I found out I was going to appear before the com‐
mittee. So I didn't have the opportunity to talk about it with other
people.

Mr. Alain Therrien: Okay, duly noted, Mr. Blais.

I have one last question about long‑term care. The CEO has been
asked about it. All parties are concerned about the potential fraud
because of remote voting and the fact that workers could have more
influence on the vote.

I'd like to hear your thoughts on that in a few seconds.
Prof. André Blais: That is already being done. If I understood

the proposal correctly, the intent is to have even more flexibility. I
assumed that this meant that election day could be different. So it
would be easier to have it on a Wednesday in a centre or a resi‐
dence, for example. We would have the same safeguards that we
have now. That's what I assumed, and I think it's quite legitimate.

Mr. Alain Therrien: Thank you for the information.

Good morning, Ms. Blumczynska.

I am very pleased to hear what you have to say. You have pointed
out some very interesting things about immigrants who come here
and find that their vote doesn't always count. Their experience is
not necessarily positive. I thought that was very interesting, but it
contradicts what I have heard before.

I used to be a member of the Quebec National Assembly. It was
noted that immigrants voted in greater numbers because they did
not always have the opportunity to do so in their country of origin.
They cherished the idea of being able to vote and they used that
right extensively, which we thought was great.

Ms. Vecchio asked about turnout. It would have been interesting
to see which of these two trends was more significant.

I dare say that if we had had longitudinal data on turnout in terms
of whether immigrants vote at the first opportunity and whether
their turnout improves over time would have been helpful.

I would like to hear your views on these two opposite move‐
ments and the turnout. Perhaps we should take a closer look.
● (1140)

[English]
Ms. Dorota Blumczynska: I agree with you that there is a pro‐

found desire to participate. Among some newcomer communities,
immigrant and refugee communities, there certainly is high partici‐
pation. I don't want to discount that.

I think we would need to look very carefully at disaggregated da‐
ta, specifically data from countries where there has been an absence
of democracy for decades and generations. The level of apathy in
some of the communities is significant. I do believe that those are
often the communities that have an intersectionality of disenfran‐
chisement where we have to put a special concentration and focus
to ensure that they do participate.

On the whole, I do believe that newcomers to Canada and new
citizens are very eager to participate, but when we take the numbers
apart and look at individualized ethnocultural communities, we will
see that we can do a better job of engaging those who really felt
very, very far from this act of freedom.
[Translation]

Mr. Alain Therrien: That's very interesting. We could talk about
it at length. Thank you very much for your comments, Ms. Blum‐
czynska.

Ms. Brayiannis, thank you for joining us.

You are saying that, because of financial and health problems,
some voters have moved. Do you have any figures that show that
this could have a significant impact on a future vote in the event of
a pandemic?
[English]

Ms. Nicole Brayiannis: The financial difficulties I was more di‐
rectly speaking to were that throughout the pandemic, students have
been experiencing hardships in terms of receiving less support than
other Canadians have been receiving. It has only exacerbated the
pressures they feel by attending education as well having to uphold
a liveable status.

When it comes to elections, oftentimes where we see students
being barred from being able to participate is by not being able to
access election polls during the hours that are provided because of
the requirements of school as well as working on top of that. We
also see that sometimes students can't afford to travel to the polls.
That was why on-campus polling stations were so great, particular‐
ly for students living in residences. It empowered them to be able to
participate in the process without having to further incur those fi‐
nancial issues.

The Chair: Thank you. That's all the time we have for that
round.
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Go ahead, Mr. Blaikie, please.
Mr. Daniel Blaikie (Elmwood—Transcona, NDP): Thank you

to all of our witnesses for appearing today.

Coming to you as well from Winnipeg, I just want to recognize
the good work that IRCOM does here for new Canadians in Win‐
nipeg. I'm very glad to hear testimony from you today.

I want to ask, Ms. Blumczynska, if you could give us a bit of an
assessment. What I heard clearly from you when we talked specifi‐
cally about some of the risks of disenfranchisement which the pan‐
demic presents is that it's really important to be able to communi‐
cate with the people in the language they're most comfortable with.
I'm wondering if you could give us a bit of an assessment of how
Elections Canada did in that regard prior to the pandemic. How
ready do you think they might be in order to do that well?

Then maybe let us know the extent to which you believe that set‐
tlement services organizations might be able to help Elections
Canada. If it's a matter of Elections Canada not being able to do
that in house, they could provide funding, for instance, for staff
here or something within certain communities in order to be able to
get those messages out.
● (1145)

Ms. Dorota Blumczynska: Thank you.

I want to specifically point out the wonderful work that was done
by “Got Citizenship? Go Vote!” a number of years ago in Win‐
nipeg, which was organized by the Ethnocultural Council of Mani‐
toba.

Voting instructions and encouragement to participate were
recorded in YouTube videos in over 20 different languages and then
disseminated throughout the communities. It simply explained the
role of every person in voting, when and how they would vote and
the importance of democratic participation.

I do believe that Elections Canada has very strong allies and ca‐
pacity within the ethnocultural community to work in collaboration
to disseminate that information in first languages to others.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Is that the kind of thing that in your opinion
should be happening when the writ drops? Or is it something that
you think Elections Canada ought to be starting on now so that peo‐
ple have an idea of how they vote, what the process is and also
what some of the measures might be that are related to the pandem‐
ic, if we do indeed have an election during the pandemic?

Ms. Dorota Blumczynska: I think that as much as possible we
need to start as early as possible. I also want to point out that a lot
of these platforms were made available online. I don't want to lose
sight of the fact that what the pandemic has revealed to us is an
enormous digital divide between communities that don't have the
social economic means to have reliable Internet or devices and the
digital literacy to participate.

Although online tools are very important and pass on oral infor‐
mation that otherwise would struggle to get to some communities,
we can't lose sight of the fact that we need additional time in order
to engage communities and get that information, sometimes on a
person-by-person basis.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: One of the things we've heard in testimony
over the course of this study from some is that, in their view, it
would be important if there were an election called during the pan‐
demic to have as long a writ period as possible. There's some flexi‐
bility within Canadian legislation.

Do you have an opinion in terms of whether a longer writ period
or a shorter one would be salutary in terms of preventing or en‐
abling people to get out the vote within the new Canadian commu‐
nities?

Ms. Dorota Blumczynska: I would agree with my learned
friend Professor Blais that the longest period possible would be the
best service to all Canadians.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you very much.

Ms. Brayiannis, we've heard there may be less opportunity to
vote on campus if we were to have a pandemic election. I know that
you've spoken to some of the real challenges that students face in
terms of costs for transportation to get elsewhere. We know that
many students are engaged in remote learning.

Do you think there continues to be value in making on-campus
voting services available? Could you speak a bit to that point,
please?

Ms. Nicole Brayiannis: Yes. Thank you.

On many campuses, although there have been transitions to on‐
line or remote learning, the residence centres are actually open for
students who aren't able to access Internet in their home communi‐
ties or who maybe are otherwise not able to access it outside of the
area where they live. I think for those reasons specifically it would
still be beneficial for on-campus polling stations, recognizing also
that community members are able to access them too.

It's not only students who would benefit from this. If there are
any workers on campus, they would be able to vote in those spaces,
as well as the residence students. I do still see value in it, and I do
still think that this should be an avenue that is pursued for advance
polling stations.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you very much for that.

Mr. Blais, I want to come back to your initial comment about the
advisability of having an election during the pandemic.

One of the challenges here in Parliament is that our confidence
convention is very loosely defined. Do you think it would be salu‐
tary for Parliament to do a little work in terms of getting more clari‐
ty on which kinds of votes in the House could trigger an election?

Prof. André Blais: I'm not sure that this could be easily done. I
guess I'm just reminding all of you that there is a law which says
that elections are fixed date. Of course it's possible to have a snap
election despite that law, but there is the expectation, I think, that
usually there should be an election only every four years, and citi‐
zens prefer to have elections only every four years.

I hope you take that into account when you decide how you will
behave and what kinds of decisions you will make. This is for all
the parties, I think.
● (1150)

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you.
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The Chair: Thank you.

We'll move to Mr. Tochor for five minutes, please.
Mr. Corey Tochor (Saskatoon—University, CPC): Thank you

very much, Madam Chair.

Thank you to the witnesses for appearing today. It has been an
eye-opener on what our country may look like potentially in the fu‐
ture.

Ms. Blumczynska, as are many on this panel, I was an immigrant
as well. My family came from Hungary. I think you have some his‐
tory that gives you a little insight on the makeup of other countries
and how that might affect Canada. I applaud you for the work you
are doing with, hopefully, increasing the number of new Canadians
who vote.

I believe you come from Poland. I would like to hear a little of
your back story, about why your family left Poland.

Ms. Dorota Blumczynska: Very briefly, I arrived in Canada in
October 1989 as a privately sponsored refugee. My family and I left
Soviet-occupied Poland in about mid-1988 because of the civil un‐
rest. We spent just over 14 months in a refugee camp in Germany
before being resettled here.

In the seven and a half years that my mother lived in Canada be‐
fore she passed away, she was only able to vote once in a federal
election. In fact, it was the one and only time she had voted in a
free democracy. For her, that democratic participation was the
height of civic duty which she imparted to us, because that was the
ability to exercise our voice and shape the future of our country.

Mr. Corey Tochor: It's interesting you bring up free democra‐
cies because there was voting in Poland in the 1980s. Did your par‐
ents share what that experience was like, that democracy?

Ms. Dorota Blumczynska: That was not exactly a free democra‐
cy and those were not exactly free elections. I think it had the fa‐
cade of elections, but certainly at that point there was suppression
of the media, suppression of civil rights and the ability to gather
and to disseminate information that ran contrary to the govern‐
ment's narrative.

There was obviously a significant movement, Solidarnosc, which
was fighting for a democratic and free Poland. It was not entirely
viewed that one participated safely in an electoral process with the
knowledge that whichever way one voted would remain confiden‐
tial, so an act of voting was considered an act of defiance and civil
disobedience.

Mr. Corey Tochor: Wow. You talked about the media being
state controlled or paid for back then. The government would re‐
lease the list of approved candidates or platforms, I suspect, and
you got to pick which one it was. That's not a direction, I think, that
is good for democracy at all.

Would you say the goals of communism were right back then,
but the implementation was obviously wrong?

Ms. Dorota Blumczynska: I'm not sure I can comment on the
goals of communism, because I was born about six months before
martial law was introduced. In my most formative years, I grew up
in a country that was fraught with poverty, food stamps and insuffi‐

cient freedom, so I don't know that I can speak well of communism
from my own lived experience.

Mr. Corey Tochor: The variation that people talk about is like a
democratic socialism that wasn't done right. Would you agree with
that statement?

Ms. Dorota Blumczynska: I would agree with that I think the
role of government is to be centred on the best interests of the peo‐
ple, and especially the people who are left behind, so the 1% that
certainly isn't at the top, but the 1% that is silenced and forgotten
and neglected. I think everything built in government, that structure
has to serve those who are the most kept from power and from priv‐
ilege and from voice.

In the country in which I grew up there was, again, the appear‐
ance of solidarity among communities, but there certainly wasn't
equality and there certainly wasn't the ability to author one's own
life or have self-determination.

● (1155)

Mr. Corey Tochor: Yes. It's stories we hear like that, of being
very fearful of drifting back to a time when government controlled
everything, and democracy is out of there.

I'll switch gears and quickly turn to Professor Blais on the role of
government and responsible government.

You talked about having elections during a pandemic and how
that's a bad idea. Does that go against your view of responsible
government? Is that where those thoughts come from, and what is
your view on responsible government?

The Chair: Unfortunately, we're over time, and we only have
one more questioner. Maybe you can get the answer in somehow.

Mr. Gerretsen, you're next.

Mr. Mark Gerretsen: Unfortunately, I won't have enough time
to do that.

I want to ask each of you a question, so I'm going to have to ask
you to be as brief as possible.

Mr. Blais, you indicated there's an expectation that a government
will last four years. I agree that parties in minority parliaments
should be able to work together, but when you say there's an expec‐
tation, who's expecting it?

Prof. André Blais: I should specify that the expectation is in the
law. When you have an election, basically, there is a norm there.
That's all.

Mr. Mark Gerretsen: It's in the law. That's what I wanted to
clarify.

Ms. Blumczynska, you indicated that you believe there should be
the longest writ period possible, but I actually interpret your com‐
ments to mean there should be the longest voting period possible. Is
that correct?
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Ms. Dorota Blumczynska: Both the writ and the voting process
are critical. All timelines need to be extended to increase participa‐
tion.

Mr. Mark Gerretsen: Going back to the exchanges you had
with Ms. Vecchio and Mr. Therrien, you talked about permanent
residents voting. I realize this is outside the scope of what we're
studying right now, because we're talking about an election during a
pandemic. I must admit that I was also concerned that....

Many immigrants who have come to my community relish the
democratic process and want to be part of it and are probably more
active than a lot of people I know who have been in Canada for
generations.

Ms. Vecchio asked for data. Was your comment an anecdotal ob‐
servation or is there actual data out there to support that?

Ms. Dorota Blumczynska: I just looked it up. I would need
more time to find the research, but there is data with respect to past
elections and participation by place of birth, yes.

Mr. Mark Gerretsen: I would really love to see that.

I do admit I'm very reluctant, because I think that becoming a
Canadian citizen comes with certain rights, and the right to vote is
one of those. Based on my observations, both my parents immigrat‐
ed from Holland and Italy back in the 1950s, and they were very
eager to make sure that everybody became a Canadian citizen as
quickly as possible so that they could participate in the democratic
process.

Do you think that might diminish the desire to become a citizen,
if you were to give permanent residents the right to vote?

Ms. Dorota Blumczynska: No. I think people obtain citizenship
for a number of reasons and also do not obtain citizenship for a
number of reasons. There are many jurisdictions globally that do
not allow someone to have dual citizenship. It is at the cost of their
identity that they would give up one in order to have the other.
Sometimes people simply choose that they cannot do it, in which
case they live in Canada for decades and are not able to participate.

Mr. Mark Gerretsen: I hope we study this in some other capaci‐
ty in order to explore this more thoroughly with you, because I'd re‐
ally like to understand that better.

Finally, Ms. Brayiannis, I want to ask you about the voter turnout
among students. In 2015, it was up. I think it was about 57%, and
then it dropped down in 2019. It went from 57% to just under 54%.

Do you have any sense as to why more people in that age group
of 18 to 24 voted in 2015 versus in 2019?
● (1200)

Ms. Nicole Brayiannis: I don't have exact reasons, but I can pro‐
vide speculations as to why.

In speaking with students during the last election, there was a
great deal of frustration in terms of interactions with the candidates
who were present. Students felt a disconnect between what they
were talking about and what candidates were actually putting for‐
ward. There was that element. There was a lack of investment in
the causes that were being talked about.

During the last election, climate justice wasn't even deemed to be
a topic of conversation that could be broached within the election,
because it was deemed to be political, rather than being addressed
as an actual issue.

Mr. Mark Gerretsen: Do you have any suggestions on what
could be done by Elections Canada to improve that, and to continue
to get an upward trend on that number?

Ms. Nicole Brayiannis: I would suggest that having a central
place where students can go to access this information would be a
huge benefit and a huge step forward. Students are really busy, hon‐
estly. I know that sounds like an easy excuse, but when it comes to
parties putting forward these 100-page documents about what they
want to do within their terms, that's not accessible.

There need to be simple language and simple ways to interact
with the election so that students feel empowered and feel that by
contributing, their voice will matter. I think that hasn't been there in
the last couple of years.

Mr. Mark Gerretsen: Thank you.

I think that's all my time, Madam Chair. I do have more, if you
want.

The Chair: Actually, that's all the time we have for all the wit‐
nesses.

I'd like to thank you so much for your participation today. It was
really great testimony we were able to get out of your opening
statements and the lines of questions.

Mr. Clerk, I do think we have all the other witnesses in the room
now.

The Clerk: Yes, Madam Chair. I'm just letting them in now.

I'll do a quick sound check for the one witness who wasn't here
earlier, and then you'll be able to get under way.

Madam Chair, we tested the other two witnesses earlier, so,
you're ready to go with the second panel.

The Chair: Okay, thank you so much.

Thank you, witnesses, for waiting patiently. So that we have a
smooth meeting, I should state right at the outset that we have inter‐
pretation services available at the bottom of your screen. Please
pick the language you intend on speaking in. If you have an updat‐
ed version of Zoom, I'm told there should be no issues in picking
“floor”, but if you lack the proper updates, then it's best to select
the language you intend to speak in. We'll do the best we can if you
need to end up switching back and forth. It is your right, of course,
to speak in both official languages, so be mindful of that.

All the questions should be addressed through the chair. Each or‐
ganization will have five minutes for opening statements.
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From People First of Canada, we have two witnesses here today.
We have Mr. Earle, the president, and we have the executive direc‐
tor, Ms. Fletcher. From Canada Without Poverty, representing that
wonderful organization, we have Ms. Renaud, the national coordi‐
nator.

Thank you to all of you for being present for our study on con‐
ducting a federal election during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Mr. Earle, are you the one who is going to make official remarks
today?
● (1205)

Mr. Kory Earle (President, People First of Canada): Thank
you, Chair.

It will be Shelley and I going back and forth in our five minutes.
The Chair: Okay, perfect. You'll be sharing the slot.

Thank you. You can go ahead.
Mr. Kory Earle: Good afternoon, Chair, and members of the

committee. Thank you so much for inviting us here today to speak
on behalf of People First of Canada. My name is Kory Earle, and I
am the president. I am joined here today by Shelley Fletcher, who
is our executive director.

People First of Canada is the national voice for people labelled
with an intellectual disability. People First is unique because we are
the only non-profit organization to have a board made up complete‐
ly of people labelled with an intellectual disability. Our board in‐
cludes people from across Canada, representing provincial and ter‐
ritorial chapter organizations, all working for inclusion and accessi‐
bility in their communities.

People First of Canada is founded on the belief that people who
have life experiences with an intellectual or developmental disabili‐
ty are the best people to represent themselves and other people with
intellectual disabilities. Our membership closely follows the idea of
“nothing about us without us”.

Currently, Shelley and I sit on Elections Canada's AGDI commit‐
tee, the Advisory Group for Disability Issues.

We appreciate the opportunity to be part of the national conver‐
sation and share our feedback and recommendations with the com‐
mittee.

People First of Canada has also worked with Elections Canada
on the ground during the past two federal elections. We have been
contracted to raise awareness and inform people living with an in‐
tellectual disability on where, when and the ways to register and
vote. People First members put together 22 events in eight
provinces and two territories. Our work is meant to reduce the bar‐
riers to voting faced by Canadians with an intellectual disability.
We are happy to note that we have succeeded.

I will now pass it over to Shelley.
Ms. Shelley Fletcher (Executive Director, People First of

Canada): Thank you, Kory.

We recognize that the COVID-19 pandemic could affect how the
federal election is conducted. The special report by Canada's Chief

Electoral Officer highlighted three main challenges as the provision
of accessible, safe and secure voting services, the availability of
election workers and the availability of poll locations.

We acknowledge that these would be challenges for everyone,
but we know that they will have an increased impact on the people
we are here advocating for today. Voting can be a challenge for
people with intellectual and/or developmental disabilities even
without a pandemic. It's important to consider their barriers to vot‐
ing.

In considering the special report, People First of Canada strongly
agrees with the statement, “Elections Canada is of the opinion that
a variety of voting options continues to be the preferred path.” Hav‐
ing a variety of voting options is important to people who have is‐
sues with accessibility and transportation. We strongly support hav‐
ing as many accessible polling locations as possible.

Accessibility is one of the biggest priorities for our members,
both accessibility around physical space as well as having a variety
of accessible voting tools. We shouldn't sacrifice the number of
polling locations across this country or the level of accessibility at
polls. While we very much support the suggestion of having two
days of polling, along with an increase to 16-hour days, one con‐
cern that may arise is the issue of transportation, particularly in ru‐
ral communities. We would recommend consideration be given to
moving the voting days from Saturday and Sunday to Friday and
Saturday. Given the transportation issues faced in rural communi‐
ties, we know they are even more limited on weekends. Having one
weekday and one weekend might help with that concern.

Also, many Canadians view Sunday as a day of worship, so by
moving to a Friday and Saturday vote day it would take the criti‐
cism off Elections Canada and the federal government.

Along with longer polling days, we support moving to shorter
shifts, two eight-hour shifts. Our membership has specifically said
that one of the reasons they don't apply to jobs with Elections
Canada is the length of the shift. This would help address the antic‐
ipated challenges of finding available election workers.

Finally, the special report states that facility administrators will
be reluctant to allow election workers to operate a poll in the lobby
or common area, so election workers would go bed to bed.
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We recommend that Elections Canada use more temporary, pop-
up voting locations. This has been done on university campuses, so
why not increase this to include long-term care facilities, day pro‐
grams for people with disabilities and institutions? This could in‐
clude using movable or temporary structures such as PODS, which
could be placed outside different locations. They could be easily
sanitized. They could be easily moved from one location to another
giving vulnerable people an increased opportunity to vote.
● (1210)

Mr. Kory Earle: Thank you, Shelley.

We appreciate the opportunity to share with you our recommen‐
dations today on conducting a federal election in the middle of the
COVID-19 pandemic.

We have come here today to advocate for those who have great
barriers to voting, but who also have the right to contribute to the
election process in a safe and accessible way. We hope that our
comments will be helpful to the committee, so that Canada can sup‐
port a federal election that is accessible and safe for all citizens.

Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you.

That is exactly our intention in inviting you here today. It is to
make sure that we have a broad scope of perspectives to make sure
that everyone is included.

Next, we have Ms. Renaud, please.
Ms. Emilly Renaud (National Coordinator, Canada Without

Poverty): Thank you, Chair, Vice-Chairs, Clerk and members of
the committee for inviting me to speak today on behalf of Canada
Without Poverty.

For 50 years CWP has represented the interests of people living
in poverty and has been led by people who have personally experi‐
enced poverty. Our work is guided by our lived experience. CWP
operates on the belief that poverty is a violation of human rights.
We seek to eradicate poverty through education and to promote
meaningful public policy action on poverty-related issues.

People in Canada living in poverty have faced devastating hard‐
ship as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. In particular, women,
racialized and immigrant communities, indigenous peoples, persons
living with disabilities, young adults, seniors and folks living with
intersectional identities have suffered the greatest impacts to their
health, employment, housing and overall well-being. These com‐
munities in the past have also faced barriers exercising our most
fundamental right as citizens: the right to vote.

CWP recently launched our poverty pandemic watch project and
released a report identifying the various areas that pandemic relief
policies have failed to address, including loss of income or reduced
income, limited housing and emergency shelters, and food insecuri‐
ty during the pandemic. Our findings detail the profound hardships
that diverse communities in poverty are experiencing during this
pandemic. These unique stressors can prevent people from feeling
empowered in voting in an upcoming election.

We have several recommendations to safeguard and enhance vot‐
ing participation for voters in poverty.

First, maximize the capacity to process and receive mail-in bal‐
lots in order to make voting accessible to those with shift work, liv‐
ing in remote communities, or needing to practice extra precaution
because they, or someone in their household, are at greater risk of
severe COVID-19 symptoms.

Extend early voting periods to accommodate those who are self-
employed or are in shift work and may be not able to vote during
the official voting days.

Moving the voting day to two eight-hour periods on Saturday
and Sunday is a good step, but we feel it ignores precarious part-
time shift workers who are more likely to work on weekends and
are less likely to feel confident in confronting their employees to
leave work early or for a long period to go vote. Further, it can be a
barrier to single parents with school-aged children. We recommend
extending official voting days to eight-hour windows on Saturday,
Sunday and Monday—importantly, including a weekday in the vot‐
ing days.

As our other witnesses have noted, translating information about
party platforms and candidates to languages other than English and
French will be essential, as will distributing these materials to com‐
munities where English and French are not the first language of the
local population.

Similarly, translate all voting instructions into more languages
and ensure that public health guideline signs at polling stations are
translated based on local language demographics.

Allow incarcerated voters to request information about their local
MPs and party platforms in order to overcome the barriers they face
in accessing localized news media while incarcerated.

Finally, ensure that shelters, food banks and service centres can
act as polling stations as long as they can meet those health guide‐
lines for physical distancing. This will encourage voting in ex‐
tremely marginalized and impoverished communities.

Of all our recommendations, CWP would like to stress the im‐
portance of mail-in ballots in ensuring that voters in poverty can
vote, as they do not require voters to miss work, travel to polling
stations, and risk COVID-19 transmission. Anti-poverty advocates
across Canada have expressed that mail-in ballots will be key to en‐
gaging people in poverty to vote, both during the pandemic and in
future elections.
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Making voting processes, instructions and information as acces‐
sible as possible is necessary for encouraging and empowering
marginalized and disadvantage people to participate in our democ‐
racy. It is vital that they exercise their right to elect leaders who
they feel will represent and fulfill their needs as marginalized citi‐
zens.

I thank you again for your invitation today. I welcome any ques‐
tions from the committee.
● (1215)

The Chair: Thank you. That was excellent.

We'll start our six-minute round with Ms. Vecchio.
Mrs. Karen Vecchio: Thank you very much.

Thanks, everybody, for coming today to provide some additional
insight.

I'll start off with Canada Without Poverty.

I was fortunate enough to work in a constituency office for a
number of years prior to becoming a member of Parliament. A lot
of times when I was dealing with government services, one of the
biggest challenges people had was getting proper identification.

What methods do you have to help people get the identification
they need? I know you look at expired health cards or loss of birth
certificates, and I know many churches have assisted with some of
those additional costs. What is your protocol to make sure people
have appropriate ID so that they can even go to the hospital and get
served?

Ms. Emilly Renaud: Canada Without Poverty hasn't done exten‐
sive research into these issues. However, we witnessed a lot of peo‐
ple with lived experience, noting that they have had issues access‐
ing identification. This has been particularly stressful in accessing
pandemic relief programs.

I think just being able to increase awareness about how to access
government IDs that allow them to vote.... Perhaps mail reminders
out to communities in poverty, with detailed instructions in lan‐
guages that are accessible and relevant to those populations to out‐
line the instructions on how to attain these IDs, and doing this as
ahead of time as possible. Sometimes it can take six weeks to two
months to produce these IDs and deliver them to people.

Further, as you mentioned, let these communities in poverty now
access these IDs at cost since renewing identification can be costly.
Even if it's only $40, sometimes this is a big chunk of someone's
monthly income.

Mrs. Karen Vecchio: Absolutely, for sure.

I remember one time having to get seven passports just so my
children had some photo ID. I remember that bill was pretty hefty.
I'm a very fortunate person, so I can only imagine the difficulty for
some in getting ID or putting food on the table.

Continuing with Canada Without Poverty, with the shelter sys‐
tem, do you know if there's any framework there to try to help get
those types of things, like identification, as one of the priorities?

Ms. Emilly Renaud: I know shelter workers can be there to as‐
sist people in retrieving their identification if it's been lost and

they've never renewed their identification. We have amazing social
workers in our shelters who do assist with shelter users in this pro‐
cess.

Further, it's great that shelters can be the primary residence
where a lot of shelter users can register to vote. I believe there are
already these great processes and systems in place that are helping
to reach those extremely marginalized people who are homeless,
women and gender non-conforming people who are fleeing situa‐
tions of violence.

We also have to note that a lot of homeless people don't use shel‐
ters for various reasons, because they use drugs or feel unsafe, es‐
pecially during times of the pandemic, when shelters have had to
reduce capacity. A lot of shelters have fewer beds. Emergency win‐
ter shelters have fewer beds. Also, a lot of people are couch surfing
and living in tent encampments.

Mrs. Karen Vecchio: Absolutely. Everything you're saying
makes sense. A lot of times you look at what people need for iden‐
tification to be able to vote. I think of the bigger picture. What do
people need when they go to the hospital? What do they need when
they do different things like register for school or for benefits?

It's not just about one time every four years needing identifica‐
tion. It's about needing identification 365 days a year, all of the
time. I think that needs to be easier. Rather than change rules on
what we do, we need to make sure people are able to get proper
identification.

Thank you very much for talking about that.

I'll go now to Shelley or Kory, whoever chooses to answer this
question. I greatly appreciate your both coming and sharing your
information.

When it comes to ballots, I know we've had lots of discussion on
what ballots should look like. People have talked about pho‐
tographs, Braille and a variety of things we may need. What are
some of the things you think we can do to enhance the ballot so that
it makes it easier for those to vote who may have a little bit of a
disability?

● (1220)

Mr. Kory Earle: Thank you so much for the question.

Across this country, 42% of Canadians have literacy problems.
We've really been advocating to have photos of the candidates on
the ballots, so that people who are marginalized and new Canadians
can identify them. This would make a huge difference for them
when they go to the polling station.
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Ms. Shelley Fletcher: Just to add to that, through the work that
we've been doing on the AGDI committee, this has been number
one on our agenda since we joined Elections Canada, and we talk
about it every opportunity that we have. We are very clear on the
implications of changing the voting ballot to include photos. We are
determined to keep advocating for that.

As Kory said, the illiteracy rates in Canada are ridiculously high.
This is not just about people with intellectual and developmental
disabilities; this is about a whole bunch of other Canadians who
don't read or who don't have good literacy skills. As I'm looking
around the screen and I'm making notes about who's on here, I'm
having to reread some of your names three or four times to print
them down, and I'm thinking, “How do you say that?” We know
that names can be very confusing.

The other thing I wanted to say is that Quebec did this; it's been
done in Quebec. They did have photos on ballots. We know it can
be done. We know that we need MP support to do it. That's one of
the things that Elections Canada has said to us, that we need to start
talking to MPs about it, because there have been conversations with
some MPs and they're very opposed to it for a lot of reasons.

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Fletcher. That's all the time we
have.

Mr. Turnbull, go ahead.
Mr. Ryan Turnbull (Whitby, Lib.): Thanks to everybody for

being here today. It's really incredible work that your organizations
do, and I want to applaud all of the efforts you make to support
Canadians. I've heard about your organizations for many years and
the great work you do, so I have a lot of admiration for you and the
work you do.

I have questions, as always, and I'll start with People First of
Canada and Mr. Earle.

In terms of the variety of voting options, generally we look at
physical polling locations, and then we've been talking a lot about
mail-in ballots. Are there any other voting options that you would
like to see this committee consider?

Mr. Kory Earle: We really want to make sure that voting is in
group homes, institutions and long-term care homes to be able to
have people have that opportunity to vote. As Shelley mentioned
earlier, sometimes the challenge in different areas is transportation
to get to the voting stations, so if it's more accessible to them, I
think that's really huge. Shelley may want to add more on that.
Long-term care, group homes and institutions, some of them don't
have that as is, so it would provide that opportunity.

Mr. Ryan Turnbull: Thanks.

Ms. Fletcher, do you have anything to add?
Ms. Shelley Fletcher: We've given some thought to the possibil‐

ities around telephone voting, where people would call in and have
to answer specific security questions that Elections Canada would
have. We've had some conversations around that, and I think there
are lots of barriers that might be in place for people, particularly
with literacy issues. They would have to know who the candidates
are who are running in their area, whereas sometimes, if people

have an actual physical ballot in front of them, they will recognize
the name.

I don't really think I have anything else concrete to add to that.

Thank you.

● (1225)

Mr. Ryan Turnbull: Thanks.

Ms. Renaud, what about you? Are there any other options other
than mail-in ballots and physical polling locations that you would
like us to consider?

Ms. Emilly Renaud: I know Elections Canada has done research
in exploring online voting, but we're unfortunately not quite ready
to make it secure and accessible.

I think what I've gathered from my engagement with anti-poverty
organizations across Canada is that mail-in voting is something that
we see as breaking a lot of barriers to voting. Also, in addition to
having an official election day, we could expand the window for
advance voting for people who know ahead of time that they won't
be able to vote on election day. Maybe they haven't gotten around
to requesting a mail-in ballot but know they can access an advance
polling day. Sometimes these are short, 48-hour windows, but if
possible, if we could expand them, that would also be a great help.

Mr. Ryan Turnbull: Thank you for that. That's great.

Maybe I can dive a little deeper on the mail-in ballot process.
We've heard from some other stakeholders that it could be stream‐
lined or improved in terms of user friendliness, and the usability of
it can be challenging at times, I think for multiple reasons.

Mr. Earle and Ms. Fletcher, would you agree with that? Do you
have any specific recommendations on streamlining the process of
mail-in ballots? I know you spoke to pictures on ballots, but is there
anything else that you could recommend?

Mr. Kory Earle: I want to be perfectly clear, when I went into
the elections to vote, one of the biggest struggles that I had was to
know the candidate who was running, because I had to write it in. I
actually put the name in slightly wrong and was really concerned
that it was disqualified.

I want to caution that when we do mail-in ballots, there should
be some kind of thing about who is running—not necessarily pic‐
tures, as much as we like them, but something that is easy for vot‐
ers. I can tell you right now that, as a voter, I was almost turned off
voting because I got really nervous that I might have messed up.
Having a list of those candidates is extremely important.

Mr. Ryan Turnbull: Thank you.

Ms. Fletcher, do you have anything to add?
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Ms. Shelley Fletcher: To add to what Kory said, when Kory
went to do the pre-vote, he had to write in the name of the person
running. It's important for you to remember that a very large part of
the people we are representing today do not have access to technol‐
ogy. It's not as easy as jumping on a computer and seeing who is
running in one's riding. That's not a reality for them.

I agree with what Kory is saying. I don't necessarily see it as the
job of Elections Canada or of the MPs to make sure everybody in a
riding knows who is running, but I would reinforce what Kory is
saying that it's really important on the mail-in vote that people
know who is running in their riding.

Mr. Ryan Turnbull: Thank you.

Ms. Renaud, do you have anything to add to streamlining the
mail-in process? It sounds like that is the option that is going to re‐
move the most barriers for the people that your two organizations
represent.

Can you make any recommendations on how to improve that?
Ms. Emilly Renaud: From what I understand, as it stands cur‐

rently, people have to request to cast their ballot by mail. I'm not
too sure what the logistics around this are. I'm sure there are a lot of
administrative deliverables that I'm not taking into consideration as
I'm not working with Elections Canada. Similar to automatic voter
registration, perhaps everyone would automatically be eligible to
vote by mail. If they choose to cast their ballots by mail, they can
do so or they could just destroy that ballot and decide to vote in
person. I think that could be an option. I understand there would be
some logistical issues around that.

I see Ruby with her hand up.
The Chair: Thank you for that point.

We have to go to Mr. Therrien for six minutes, please.

[Translation]
Mr. Alain Therrien: Thank you, Madam Chair.

I'm going to start with Mr. Earle and Ms. Fletcher.

I'm very pleased to hear from you. Welcome to the committee.

The first thing I must say to you is: well done and congratula‐
tions for the work that you do. My second daughter has an intellec‐
tual disability, so from your comments, I fully understand that you
are standing up for my daughter. I am very grateful to you for that.

Approximately how many people do you represent in Canada?
● (1230)

[English]
Ms. Shelley Fletcher: Kory, do you want me to answer that one?
Mr. Kory Earle: Yes.
Ms. Shelley Fletcher: Our membership fluctuates. We are cur‐

rently in every province and territory with the exception of
Nunavut. Our Nunavut chapter in Rankin Inlet has closed. We hope
that is temporary. We represent between 3,000 and 4,000 Canadians
with intellectual disabilities who are members of our organization.

[Translation]

Mr. Alain Therrien: Okay.

As you know, these people's health is often more fragile, so I
imagine that the pandemic is worrisome for you.

Do you know their usual turnout, and what the prognosis is in a
pandemic like this? I think it will be very problematic to get these
people to vote during a health crisis like this.

Could you comment on that?

[English]

Ms. Shelley Fletcher: That's a really good question. I don't have
a statistic on how many people with intellectual disabilities across
Canada are voting, but that's certainly something that we could look
into.

We are very concerned about people with compromised health.
You are correct that many people who have intellectual disabilities
often have other health issues as well.

One of the things Kory was talking about in our opening remarks
was around supporting people to access their fundamental right to
vote. A pandemic is very challenging and we're hopeful that they
are creative with different ways to come into people's homes, into
group homes and into congregate settings where people live and
have something in place to allow people to exercise their right to
vote.

[Translation]

Mr. Alain Therrien: So you're proposing to have two 16‑hour
voting days. The idea of having them on Friday and Saturday is
very interesting, and Ms. Renaud also mentioned it. I think it's a
very good idea to set one voting day on a weekday and another on a
weekend.

I used to be an MNA in Quebec City and we had made arrange‐
ments to have pictures of the candidates. It's funny to hear you say
that maybe the members prevented it. We were quite happy to help
people vote with pictures of the candidates. I had even demanded,
in 1998—I am very old—to have pictures of the candidates in the
polling stations so that people could recognize us.

I find it astonishing that this is still not being done at the federal
level. I think we should push for that. I'm not sure whether you
agree.

[English]

Mr. Kory Earle: Absolutely. I think photos on ballots are ex‐
tremely important. We have met with some MPs to discuss this. As
Shelley mentioned earlier, the whole thing about pictures really
threw some of them off that option.
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Nevertheless, we are going to continue to advocate for this, be‐
cause we believe it is the right thing to do. If we truly want a
Canada where every Canadian votes, then we need to make it ac‐
cessible. The people who are really marginalized are those with an
intellectual disability and developmental disability. They are at the
lowest rate below poverty than any others, and are facing this strug‐
gle today.

We'll continue to advocate for that with all MPs to get party sup‐
port. Quite frankly, the majority of Canadians would support that.
It's not just for people with intellectual disabilities. New Canadians
would also benefit.
[Translation]

Mr. Alain Therrien: Rest assured that you have an ally. You can
be sure that I am entirely on your side.

Once again, congratulations for the work that you are doing. I am
very pleased to talk to you.

I will now turn to Ms. Renaud.

Your suggestion to extend the advance voting periods is very in‐
teresting.

That said, you would like to have three eight-hour days instead
of two longer days. Did I understand you correctly?
● (1235)

[English]
Ms. Emilly Renaud: Initially, just from talking with people, we

thought why not extend the weekend voting period to three days, to
include a weekday?

That being said, when Shelley mentioned having a voting day,
Friday and Saturday, that was actually an excellent point, especially
in bringing up the fact that Sunday is a day of worship for many
people. Having two eight-hour periods, one on Friday and one on
Saturday, would also work in extending voting accessibility and re‐
ducing barriers. Originally, we said three days, but Shelley's sug‐
gestion is also quite good.

The Chair: Thank you. That's all the time we have.

We will go to Mr. Blaikie for six minutes.
Mr. Daniel Blaikie: One of the things we heard in our previous

panel is that the best way to mitigate the potential challenges to vot‐
ing in an election during a pandemic would be for parliamentarians
to work together to collaborate in order to avoid an election.

Do our witnesses share the view of the witness in our previous
panel who expressed that point of view, or do they disagree?

Ms. Shelley Fletcher: Mr. Blaikie, could I ask you to rephrase
that question in plain language, so that we could better answer you?

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: We all recognize that having an election
during a pandemic poses a lot of challenges to many different
Canadians in order to be able to vote. We've heard from some wit‐
nesses that the best thing to do would be to have people like me and
the MPs at this table find a way to work together as a Parliament,
so that we don't have an election, because the fixed election date in
Canada doesn't foresee an election until 2023.

We heard from a witness that we could avoid some of these prob‐
lems if parliamentarians could find a way to work together, and ex‐
tend the Parliament past the pandemic, provided that it doesn't go
on for many years.

Would you agree or disagree with that recommendation?

Ms. Shelley Fletcher: Thank you for clarifying that.

Kory, do you want to comment on that?

Mr. Kory Earle: Absolutely. Thank you, Mr. Blaikie.

We're in the midst of a pandemic right now. We're in the midst of
a COVID crisis in this country. The last place that people want to
head to right now is the polls. For people with intellectual disabili‐
ties and developmental disabilities, we must get the election pro‐
cess right—and we're not there yet—to make sure that people are
ready during a pandemic.

I work out of long-term care. People are dying right now, and the
last thing that's on people's minds right now is an election. As an
organization, we have a job to work with all members regardless of
what side they're on to push for the inclusion of all Canadians.
We'll continue to do that whether there's an election today or next
year.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you very much, Mr. Earle.

Ms. Renaud, would you like to comment on that as well?

Ms. Emilly Renaud: Yes, thank you.

Absolutely, building off what Kory said, I think a lot of people
just do not want to have to put an election on their plate while
they're dealing with so many other things. I think even more impor‐
tant than the process of election is that people right now are depen‐
dent on these federal and provincial funding initiatives such as EI
and, in a lot of small businesses, the Canada emergency wage sub‐
sidy.

The last thing you want is a lot of people in Canada worried that
these benefits are going to change all of a sudden, as they've all
changed dramatically and frequently in the past seven months. A
lot of people worry that these benefits could potentially cease with
the transition to a new government, so I agree that avoiding an elec‐
tion as much as possible is something that I think the majority of
Canadians in poverty and people in poverty are going to support.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you.

One of the mechanisms for voting that has been discussed by
some of the witnesses we've heard from has been voting by phone
as a way to try to make voting more accessible to people. We've
heard that was done in the B.C. election.

I'm wondering if each of you could speak a little to the impacts
that voting by phone might have—both pros and cons—for the peo‐
ple you're representing at the committee today.
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● (1240)

Mr. Kory Earle: I think the pros are that it would encourage
some people who do have a phone to vote and have that as an op‐
tion. I think having more options available to Canadians will only
increase the voting in this country.

On the flip side, we have to remember that there are so many
people in poverty right now who cannot afford technology, cannot
afford a phone, and who are struggling. They're using the food
banks right now because they can't.... Having a phone is a luxury
for some people. That would be the negative side, that so many
don't have that ability to connect. Those who do would obviously
be welcome to, and I know we talked briefly about that earlier as an
option.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you.

Ms. Renaud.
Ms. Emilly Renaud: I think Kory brought up an excellent point

about people in poverty not always having access to phones, and by
voting by phone I assume you mean a call in and not a text in. I just
wanted to clarify.

To be quite honest, I did not know that this was something that
happened in the B.C. election, and I would be curious about the
lessons they learned and how effective this was. I definitely think
that, for those who are remote and who do have a landline or a se‐
cure phone, I can only see this being a positive option to the various
ways to vote.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you.

Ms. Renaud, I know even in normal times there are a lot of barri‐
ers to voting for people who live in poverty, particularly when it
comes to Canada's homeless population. In the pandemic context,
what are some specific things that Elections Canada ought to be
thinking about right now in order to use the shelter network as a
way of encouraging people to vote safely? What kinds of things
and support might that shelter network and other actors who are en‐
gaging Canada's homeless population need from Elections Canada
in order to minimize the barriers to voting?

The Chair: Unfortunately, that's all the time we have. We're on a
tight time schedule today, so I'm sorry I can't be more lenient like
usual.

Next we have Mr. Tochor, please.
Mr. Corey Tochor: Thank you, witnesses, for being here today

and, more importantly, for the work you do representing the differ‐
ent groups.

Mr. Earle, with regard to intellectual disabilities, is there a coun‐
try that has better programs in general for voting by people with in‐
tellectual disabilities? Are there countries that are best in class or
best examples, countries that have better services for people with
intellectual disabilities?

Mr. Kory Earle: I'm going to ask Shelley if she can take this
one.

Ms. Shelley Fletcher: Thank you for asking that question.

People First of Canada is part of an organization called Inclusion
International. We do work with many countries across the world.

I'm proud to say, believe it or not, that Canada is one of the leaders
in this area for people with intellectual disabilities. There are many,
many countries across the world in which people with intellectual
disabilities are not allowed to vote. Even in some of the countries
that are quite progressive, capacity is questioned and people are not
given the right to vote.

Canada is viewed as one of the leaders in the area of intellectual
disability and the right to vote.

Mr. Corey Tochor: I do believe we live in the best country in
the world, so it warms me a little bit that, at least in this regard,
maybe other countries can take our lead.

The pandemic has affected many different things. For your orga‐
nization, has funding by the federal government decreased or in‐
creased during this pandemic, either hurting or helping your ability
to represent your association?

Mr. Kory Earle: Shelley, do you want me to respond? No, go
ahead.

● (1245)

Ms. Shelley Fletcher: Our funding has not changed. In fact,
we've actually had a small increase in funding to do a very specific
project around COVID and people with intellectual disabilities.
We've done work on providing plain language. A lot of the news
coming out about COVID is not written...or the resources...or what
does PPE mean.... We've done a lot of work over the last eight
months on translating resources into plain language so all people
can understand them, and we have been given a little bit of money
to do that.

Mr. Corey Tochor: Thank you very much.

Ms. Renaud, I applaud your work and your association in helping
people in tougher situations. It's obvious that COVID-19 has proba‐
bly caused more people to seek the services and unfortunately to be
in poverty.

Following an election, would it be fair to say that one of the most
beneficial aspects that a government or a future government could
consider would be providing the right climate for economic growth
so that more individuals would have the dignity of work and the in‐
herent virtue of work availability?

Ms. Emilly Renaud: If I understand correctly, you're speaking
more broadly to future government actions to reduce economic in‐
equality and social inequality to empower everyone to live in digni‐
ty, to live at a dignified level so that people are not just getting the
bare necessities but are living comfortably. To that I say, absolutely.



18 PROC-13 November 26, 2020

I think the way we phrase it is that it is not just economic growth
but also things like our social security system and our welfare sys‐
tem. Right now they're all offering income payments that are below
the poverty line, so it would be the federal government working
with the provinces to better support those provinces to provide dig‐
nified income supports and to provide things like housing. I think
these are all greater systemic issues that will allow people to live
not so precariously and not so desperately just to meet the bare ne‐
cessities.

Once those are met, and once people can live in dignity, they can
better engage in democratic processes and can better engage in
things like voting, because they will feel as though they have the
time and energy to give to the voting processes, which takes a lot of
time to reflect and think critically about.

Mr. Corey Tochor: Chair, how much time do I have?
The Chair: That's all the time you have. Thank you.

Next we have Mr. Gerretsen.
Mr. Mark Gerretsen: Madam Chair, I believe Ms. Duncan is

going to take my time.
The Chair: Dr. Duncan, go ahead, please.
Hon. Kirsty Duncan (Etobicoke North, Lib.): Thank you,

Madam Chair.

Mr. Earle, Ms. Fletcher and Ms. Renaud, I would like to say
thank you for the work you do. Thank you for your important testi‐
mony today.

Mr. Earle, thank you for the work you do in long-term care. It's
not an easy time right now, and we appreciate your work.

I like what you wrote before. You said that you want to especial‐
ly encourage people with intellectual disabilities to vote, as it is
their right, and they should use it. What would help your members
to vote?

Mr. Kory Earle: It's so great to see you, Ms. Duncan. We've
crossed paths over the years. You've been a huge champion of
pushing the agenda forward, so thank you.

We have to recognize that in order for people to vote, we need to
make sure all tools are accessible. We'll continue to push for photos
on ballots. We'll continue to make sure that this is an avenue that
our members have strongly been supportive of.

We also want to encourage that many take the opportunity to
work during an election as well. Give them that opportunity and ex‐
perience because it's extremely important when you hear so many
saying, “Have you applied for a job?” We know so many people
who are below the poverty line who would really benefit even from
the experience of that.

We talked a bit about phone voting. That certainly would help.
On that, I'm curious about how B.C. handled that and what mem‐
bers took from that. Mail-in ballots are extremely important, but al‐
so make sure that everyone works together to make sure that the
people have that information so they know who to vote for and who
the candidates are. Although writing is valid and all of that, it's very
challenging for a lot of our members. That's why a lot of us have
our support workers who will do that.

The other thing is that when people have support workers who at
this point can only help one person in the group homes and institu‐
tions, it's really important that these workers be able to help more
than one person. So many across this country who are in isolation
don't actually have families or have that support connection. That
would help the homeless, etc., having that support aspect.

● (1250)

Hon. Kirsty Duncan: Mr. Earle, it's so good to see you too. I'm
very delighted to see you today, and thank you for that.

Mr. Earle and Ms. Fletcher, I know People First of Canada has
had Zoom meetings with their members across the country. I'm
wondering if you would like to tell us about what people's experi‐
ences are right now during COVID-19.

Mr. Kory Earle: Absolutely. We just held an event not too long
ago called Conversations with Kory. I can't begin to tell you the
struggles people are going through.

One at the top of mind right now is the mental health crisis in
this country. People are isolated. People are lonely. Just think about
all of us at the end of the day. All of us get to go home. So many
don't. Many are struggling because they're alone and have no one
next to them. Many have shared their tears that they just want this
whole pandemic to be over. Many have said that they're worried
about the holidays even being worse for them. Many have shared
how their mental health crisis has not only increased but it's really
made them think what there is to life when there's nothing to do any
more.

These are stories of everyday Canadians. People face such diffi‐
culty. They don't have that ability. They are lonely and so many of
them are isolated today. Just think about some people who are in
group homes, etc., who already feel that way as is, but now they
cannot hang out with the people they wish to hang out with.

When people across the country shared their experiences, we
could only say that we felt hopeless, because that's what we felt.
We felt hopeless because we wanted to help each and every person
to have the best quality of life. Before the pandemic, people's lives
were hanging in the balance. During the pandemic, they still hang
in the balance and the struggles that they go through have only be‐
come a lot more severe.

Hon. Kirsty Duncan: Mr. Earle, thank you. They're lucky to
have you and the fact that you listen. We appreciate that.

Ms. Fletcher, do you want to add to Mr. Earle's words, please?
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Ms. Shelley Fletcher: Sure. I'll be quick as I know that the time
is running out.

We've been doing a project with CAMH, the Centre for Addic‐
tion and Mental Health, and People First of Canada are running a
class right now. It's a six-week session for people with intellectual
disabilities around their mental health, on how to recognize it, what
to do about it, what it feels like, the words to use if they need to go
into a hospital. We're doing a ton a great work in that area right
now.

The other thing is, as Kory said, this pandemic for our folks has
just been so life altering for them. People who live in care are not
able to see their families. People who barely make—

The Chair: Thank you.
Ms. Shelley Fletcher: Are we out of time?
The Chair: Yes, we are. Thank you.

Monsieur Therrien, you have two and a half minutes.
[Translation]

Mr. Alain Therrien: Thank you, Madam Chair.

Ms. Renaud, you talked about incarcerated voters who were hav‐
ing difficulty getting information from political parties on election
platforms. We have heard it a number of times, and I find it a little
odd.

My colleagues will say the same thing, but in the Bloc
Québécois, when someone asks us for information on our platform,
we provide it quickly, and in different forms to make our message
accessible. If you ask my colleagues, I am sure they will say the
same thing about their respective parties.

Have you approached the political parties to increase the dissem‐
ination of information through media that allow them to really
grasp the information quickly so that they can subsequently make a
more informed choice?
● (1255)

[English]
Ms. Emilly Renaud: I don't have a lot of expertise in terms of

incarcerated voters, but from what I've researched, they're having
trouble accessing specifically information about their ridings and
the MPs in their ridings. They usually are able to watch national
news, like CBC's The National. These are available in common ar‐
eas.
[Translation]

Mr. Alain Therrien: Okay.
[English]

Ms. Emilly Renaud: They might have an idea of these greater
party platforms, but they're having trouble accessing local news
media and local MP agendas. I think it's dangerous to assume that
everyone understands that you're not just voting for the Liberal Par‐
ty and you're not just voting for Justin Trudeau. You're voting for
your local MP.

It's that whole electoral process, where you're increasing aware‐
ness of this for people in prison and incarcerated people and low-

income people. You're increasing the information and understand‐
ing of how that election process works. You're voting for an MP,
and maybe your MP who isn't running for a party that you would
prefer is a better candidate for what you need in your area. That's
what I was speaking to. It's being able to understand election pro‐
cesses and getting that very localized information.

[Translation]

Mr. Alain Therrien: It's very clear now. We have to find a way
to inform people.

I will ask Mr. Earle and Ms. Fletcher about temporary, pop‑up
voting locations.

Can you tell me what you would like to see in that respect?

[English]

Mr. Kory Earle: As we indicated, we'd like pop-up stations in
long-term care homes, group homes and institutions, just as they
have at universities.

The Chair: Thank you. That's excellent.

I gave you some leeway, Mr. Therrien, because I know transla‐
tion takes a little extra time.

[Translation]

Mr. Alain Therrien: Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

[English]

The Chair: Mr. Blaikie.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Ms. Renaud, I was asking a question earlier
about what Elections Canada might do to better mobilize the shelter
network to support Canada's homeless in the event of a pandemic
election. I'm wondering if we might be able to pick up where we
left off.

Ms. Emilly Renaud: As I think I spoke briefly to earlier, shel‐
ters have had to reduce capacity. You actually are seeing fewer
shelter users and fewer people who are homeless who are able to
access resources and have daily interactions with social workers in
shelters. I think using shelter workers and using these networks to
also reach out to homelessness advocates, who are very grassroots,
who work in encampments, who help fundraise to provide basic ne‐
cessities for encampment residents...and using them to give them
information that is accessible, offered in different languages, of‐
fered in indigenous languages, letting them disperse to those people
who are living on the streets.

A lot of homeless people are actually feeling safer on the streets
than in shelters from the spread of COVID. I think it will be a big‐
ger challenge during a pandemic to reach homeless people because
of this reduced capacity in shelters. I think it will take a lot of com‐
municating and organizing and taking advantage of these amazing
advocates who might not be official shelter workers but are there
on the ground and are very willing to help empower homeless peo‐
ple in Canada as mich as possible.
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Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Do you think where there are large encamp‐
ments it might make sense to try to have a polling station?

Ms. Emilly Renaud: Yes. In winter in many of our colder
provinces these encampments tend to dwindle down. People try to
couch surf in the winter. They use emergency winter shelters. I
think you'll see fewer great encampments like we did over the sum‐
mer. That being said, especially in Vancouver and in climates that
are a bit warmer, by having a polling station right next to encamp‐
ments, for people who are struggling, who panhandle and struggle
to feed themselves, it would be about making it as easy for them as
possible. If it took maybe 10 minutes out of their day for them to go
and vote, I think that would be crucial in encouraging our homeless
populations to vote.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you very much.
The Chair: Thank you. That's all the time we have for formal

questions.

Once again, I'd like to thank both of the organizations and all of
the witnesses. You've done a wonderful job and I hope that we will
be able to appropriately reflect your comments and feedback in our
recommendations in the report.
● (1300)

Mr. Kory Earle: Thank you.
The Chair: You're free to log off at this point. I want to cover a

couple of things with the regular committee members before we
end today's meeting.

Members, I want to inform you about a couple of things.

In our last meeting, there was a desire to go in camera to take a
look at some issues with MP security risks and have some of the
witnesses back in order to do so. The clerk has checked into avail‐
ability for times. I heard through the whips that there might be
Monday evening slots available to committees. They're on a first-
come, first-served basis. We looked into that and those slots are all
taken until January 25, so January 25 would be the next Monday
evening time slot we would have available. We have put our name
in to hold that spot for now, if we end up having to take that long to
meet on that issue.

There is a second option I want to present to the committee. The
second option would be to meet after the House rises. There is
some capacity for us to meet the week after. That would be the
week of December 14. December 15 would be the actual date, in
our regular time slot, from 11 a.m. to 1 p.m. It would be the Tues‐
day after the House rises.

It's up to you guys. Those are the two options. We have the
evening of Monday, January 25, which would be after the House
resumes again, or we have during the winter break or constituency
time on December 15.

Do you have a preference?
Mrs. Karen Vecchio: Perhaps Alain Therrien can assist with this

as he's working with the Quebec House leadership. There has been
no agreement after December 11 to allow committees or the House
to sit in hybrid format. The ability to continue to meet is something
that I know is extremely important to many of the opposition mem‐
bers. I think this is exactly the case, as we're seeing right now, that

there's lots of work to be done. There has not been an actual for‐
malization or anything coming from the government on the plans
after December 11, so perhaps you could work on that for us as
well, Ruby.

Thank you.

The Chair: I'd be a miracle worker, then.

Thank you for informing me about that, Ms. Vecchio. We were
just looking at it in terms of the IT resources. I hadn't realized—and
you are very correct—that I'll probably look into that a little bit fur‐
ther as to whether there is some agreement that can come about on
that.

We'll just hold the time slot for January 25 for now, and then I'll
update you in one of our next meetings as to what's happening with
the security risk meeting.

I want to remind you that at Tuesday's meeting—the next meet‐
ing we have for this committee—we're going to be considering the
interim draft report. Andre, if you want to give any feedback to the
committee members, now is a good time. I think he's going to get
us the draft report before the weekend starts—sometime tomorrow,
hopefully, so you have the weekend to look over it.

I'm getting a thumbs up, so that's correct. You should be receiv‐
ing that tomorrow, so you have the weekend and Monday to mull it
over.

Mr. Tom Lukiwski (Moose Jaw—Lake Centre—Lanigan,
CPC): Madam Chair, excuse me for interrupting. I assume that in‐
terim draft report would be sent to our P9 accounts. Is that correct?

The Chair: Do you receive other emails and notices through
your P9 account?

The Clerk: Madam Chair, I can confirm that P9 accounts for all
the members would be included in that distribution, along with oth‐
er identified staff members.

Mr. Tom Lukiwski: Thank you.

The Chair: Perfect. Usually, the only time there's an exception
to that is if you've requested another email to be used, so your P9 is
not flooded. You should receive that tomorrow.

As you're going through the draft report over the weekend,
please bring your suggested recommendations to the meeting on
Tuesday. In order for Andre to insert them into the report, the dead‐
line for recommendations is later on that day, Tuesday, December
1, at 5 p.m. You will have the opportunity during committee time
that day to talk about the recommendations, and then a few hours
after the committee meeting to make the submissions to Andre.

That will be a good way of doing it, so we have the benefit of
talking to each other about them, and seeing where people are on it.
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We have a meeting scheduled for December 10 with witnesses
for the study on prorogation. That's going to be for 90 minutes. It's
a three-hour meeting. The first 90 minutes will be the continuation
of our study. Hopefully, we'll have the chief medical officers of
Quebec and Ontario. The other 90 minutes of that meeting will be
for the prorogation study.

Some parties have submitted a witness list. I would hope that all
parties would submit their choice of witnesses as soon as possible.
We're talking about having a constitutional expert, or an academic
in that portion. We would only have enough space for four people
on that panel, so I'm looking for one recommendation each.

As for that whole study, if you could start submitting recommen‐
dations for witnesses for the prorogation study, as well, so the clerk
will have enough time to slot it in over the winter break, and start

talking to witnesses, so we can be prepared when we come back. It
gives him some flexibility to go back and forth with different orga‐
nizations and people.

The suggestion would be that by December 11, which is the last
sitting day of the House, we have the complete list of witnesses
from all parties for that whole study, or as complete as you can
make it, so we can start planning.

I need the one witness for now, and then by December 11, the
rest of the witnesses for the prorogation issue.

Does anyone have any questions? No.

I'll see you on Tuesday.

The meeting is adjourned.

 







Published under the authority of the Speaker of
the House of Commons

Publié en conformité de l’autorité
du Président de la Chambre des communes

SPEAKER’S PERMISSION PERMISSION DU PRÉSIDENT
The proceedings of the House of Commons and its commit‐
tees are hereby made available to provide greater public ac‐
cess. The parliamentary privilege of the House of Commons
to control the publication and broadcast of the proceedings of
the House of Commons and its committees is nonetheless re‐
served. All copyrights therein are also reserved.

Les délibérations de la Chambre des communes et de ses
comités sont mises à la disposition du public pour mieux le
renseigner. La Chambre conserve néanmoins son privilège
parlementaire de contrôler la publication et la diffusion des
délibérations et elle possède tous les droits d’auteur sur
celles-ci.

Reproduction of the proceedings of the House of Commons
and its committees, in whole or in part and in any medium,
is hereby permitted provided that the reproduction is accu‐
rate and is not presented as official. This permission does not
extend to reproduction, distribution or use for commercial
purpose of financial gain. Reproduction or use outside this
permission or without authorization may be treated as copy‐
right infringement in accordance with the Copyright Act. Au‐
thorization may be obtained on written application to the Of‐
fice of the Speaker of the House of Commons.

Il est permis de reproduire les délibérations de la Chambre
et de ses comités, en tout ou en partie, sur n’importe quel sup‐
port, pourvu que la reproduction soit exacte et qu’elle ne soit
pas présentée comme version officielle. Il n’est toutefois pas
permis de reproduire, de distribuer ou d’utiliser les délibéra‐
tions à des fins commerciales visant la réalisation d'un profit
financier. Toute reproduction ou utilisation non permise ou
non formellement autorisée peut être considérée comme une
violation du droit d’auteur aux termes de la Loi sur le droit
d’auteur. Une autorisation formelle peut être obtenue sur
présentation d’une demande écrite au Bureau du Président
de la Chambre des communes.

Reproduction in accordance with this permission does not
constitute publication under the authority of the House of
Commons. The absolute privilege that applies to the proceed‐
ings of the House of Commons does not extend to these per‐
mitted reproductions. Where a reproduction includes briefs
to a committee of the House of Commons, authorization for
reproduction may be required from the authors in accor‐
dance with the Copyright Act.

La reproduction conforme à la présente permission ne con‐
stitue pas une publication sous l’autorité de la Chambre. Le
privilège absolu qui s’applique aux délibérations de la Cham‐
bre ne s’étend pas aux reproductions permises. Lorsqu’une
reproduction comprend des mémoires présentés à un comité
de la Chambre, il peut être nécessaire d’obtenir de leurs au‐
teurs l’autorisation de les reproduire, conformément à la Loi
sur le droit d’auteur.

Nothing in this permission abrogates or derogates from the
privileges, powers, immunities and rights of the House of
Commons and its committees. For greater certainty, this per‐
mission does not affect the prohibition against impeaching or
questioning the proceedings of the House of Commons in
courts or otherwise. The House of Commons retains the right
and privilege to find users in contempt of Parliament if a re‐
production or use is not in accordance with this permission.

La présente permission ne porte pas atteinte aux privilèges,
pouvoirs, immunités et droits de la Chambre et de ses
comités. Il est entendu que cette permission ne touche pas
l’interdiction de contester ou de mettre en cause les délibéra‐
tions de la Chambre devant les tribunaux ou autrement. La
Chambre conserve le droit et le privilège de déclarer l’utilisa‐
teur coupable d’outrage au Parlement lorsque la reproduc‐
tion ou l’utilisation n’est pas conforme à la présente permis‐
sion.

Also available on the House of Commons website at the
following address: https://www.ourcommons.ca

Aussi disponible sur le site Web de la Chambre des
communes à l’adresse suivante :

https://www.noscommunes.ca


